Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-20-2013

State v. Ozuna Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40165

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Ricardo Ozuna, Jr., appeals from a judgment of conviction for lewd conduct following a jury trial. On appeal, he asserts that the district court erred in concluding that Idaho Rule of Evidence 412 applied to bar presentation of proffered evidence that he did not have sexual intercourse with the alleged victim because he had been told that she had chlamydia, and when it prevented him from eliciting evidence that the alleged victim had chlamydia at the time of the alleged assault and that he has shown no signs of chlamydia since the alleged assault. He further asserts that, even assuming the proffered evidence fell within the confines of Rule 412, the district court violated his constitutional rights to present a defense and to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments when it excluded the proffered evidence. Additionally, Mr. Ozuna asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it imposed a life sentence, with twenty years fixed, following his conviction.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Ricardo Ozuna, Jr., was charged with one count of lewd conduct with a minor under sixteen, for alleged genital to genital contact, and a sentencing enhancement under Idaho Code § 19-2520G. (R., pp.36-37, 67-68.) The charge stemmed from allegations that Mr. Ozuna had unprotected sex with fifteen year old E.B. (Tr., p.282, L.7 – p.303, L.9.)

Prior to the start of trial, Mr. Ozuna sought a ruling as to whether he could testify that, on the night of the alleged assault, he was told by a friend of E.B. that she had chlamydia, which caused him to have no interest in having sexual intercourse with her.

Mr. Ozuna also sought permission to elicit testimony that E.B. had chlamydia at the time of the alleged assault, and that he did not have chlamydia or show any signs of chlamydia after the alleged assault. (Tr., p.229, L.9 – p.231, L.12.) The State opposed the defense request, citing, *inter alia*, Idaho Rule of Evidence 412. Ultimately, the district court concluded that Rule 412 applied to bar the proffered evidence in both areas. (Tr., p.255, L.5 – p.256, L.2.)

Following a jury trial, Mr. Ozuna was found guilty of lewd conduct (Tr., p.695, Ls.9-25), and the sentencing enhancement. (Tr., p.722, Ls.4-22.) The State requested imposition of a unified life sentence, with twenty years fixed. (Sent.Tr., p.25, Ls.16-23.) Defense counsel requested a unified sentence of thirty or thirty-five years, with fifteen years fixed. (Sent.Tr., p.33, L.9 – p.34, L.23.) Ultimately, the district court imposed a life sentence, with twenty years fixed. (Sent.Tr., p.48, Ls.4-18.) He filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., p.227.)

ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err in concluding that the proffered evidence fell under Idaho Rule of Evidence 412, and violate Mr. Ozuna's constitutional rights to present a defense and to a fair trial, when it prevented him from testifying that he did not have sexual intercourse with the alleged victim because he had been told that she had chlamydia?
- 2. Did the district court err in concluding that the proffered evidence fell under Idaho Rule of Evidence 412, and violate Mr. Ozuna's constitutional rights to present a defense and to a fair trial, when it prevented him from eliciting testimony that the alleged victim had chlamydia at the time of the alleged assault and that he had shown no signs of chlamydia since the alleged assault?
- 3. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed a life sentence, with twenty years fixed, following Mr. Ozuna's conviction for lewd conduct with a sentencing enhancement?

ARGUMENT

1

The District Court Erred In Concluding That The Proffered Evidence Fell Under Idaho
Rule Of Evidence 412, And Violated Mr. Ozuna's Rights To Present A Defense And To
A Fair Trial, When It Prevented Him From Testifying That He Did Not Have Sexual
Intercourse With The Alleged Victim Because He Had Been Told That She Had
Chlamydia

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Mr. Ozuna asserts that the district court erred in concluding that the proffered evidence fell under Idaho Rule of Evidence 412, and violated his constitutional rights to present a defense and to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, when it prevented him from testifying that he did not have sexual intercourse with E.B. because he had been told that she had chlamydia. The district court erred because the proffered evidence did not fall within the scope of Rule 412. Furthermore, even assuming that it did, enforcing Rule 412 to bar its admission violated Mr. Ozuna's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

B. The District Court Erred In Concluding That The Proffered Evidence Fell Under Idaho Rule Of Evidence 412, And Violated Mr. Ozuna's Constitutional Rights To Present A Defense And To A Fair Trial, And Prevented Him From Testifying That He Did Not Have Sexual Intercourse With The Alleged Victim Because He Had Been Told That She Had Chlamydia

Idaho Rule of Evidence 412, in relevant part, provides:

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, in a criminal case in which a person is accused of a sex crime, reputation or opinion evidence of the past sexual behavior of an alleged victim of such sex crime is not admissible.

¹ The United States Supreme Court has recognized that the right to present a defense is "so fundamental and essential to a fair trial that it is incorporated in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 18-19 (1967) (footnote omitted).

- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, in a criminal case in which a person is accused of a sex crime, evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior other than reputation or opinion evidence is also not admissible, unless such evidence other than reputation or opinion evidence is —
- (1) admitted in accordance with subdivisions (c)(1) and (c)(2)[2] and is constitutionally required to be admitted; or
 - (2) admitted in accordance with subdivision (c) and is evidence of -
 - (A) past sexual behavior with persons other than the accused, offered by the accused upon the issue of whether the accused was or was not, with respect to the alleged victim, the source of semen or injury; or
 - (B) past sexual behavior with the accused and is offered by the accused upon the issue of whether the alleged victim consented to the sexual behavior with respect to which the sex crime is alleged; or
 - (C) false allegations of sex crimes made at an earlier time; or
 - (D) sexual behavior with parties other than the accused which occurred at the time of the event giving rise to the sex crime charged.

. . .

(d) For purposes of this rule, the term "past sexual behavior" means sexual behavior other than the sexual behavior with respect to which the sex crime is alleged.

. . .

I.R.E. 412.

1. The Proffered Evidence Does Not Fall Within Rule 412

Mr. Ozuna maintains that the district court erred in excluding his proffered testimony concerning his belief that E.B. had chlamydia as the reason that he did not

 $^{^2}$ Subsections (c)(1) and (c)(2) concern the requirements of pre-trial notice and a hearing. They are not relevant on appeal, as the district court concluded, at the requisite hearing, that the motion was timely, and the prosecuting attorney made no

have sexual intercourse with her because it is not the type of evidence that falls within the strictures of Rule 412.³

In his offer of proof concerning the proffered testimony, defense counsel set forth the expected testimony, its significance, and the legal theory behind its admissibility as follows.

It would be our contention, and this would come through the testimony of my client when he's on the witness stand, that earlier in the evening, when Andree became somewhat jealous at attention he [Mr. Ozuna] was paying towards [E.B.], that Andree, the other woman present at this — at his house in Nampa, told him that, basically, you don't want to have anything to do with her, she has a sexually transmitted disease.

My client is not — and I would not be offering that from that point of view for the truth of the matter asserted. Therefore, I do not think I am under 412. I would be offering that statement because my client, at least believing it true, or at least believing it could be true, that is why he, in fact — even though [E.B.] was allegedly throwing herself at my client — why he chose not to have sexual relations with her. It was a factor in his choice not to have sexual relations with [E.B.]. And I am not offering it — and this is why I shouldn't — it shouldn't be under 412. I'm not offering it to say — at that point, I'm not offering it to say she had chlamydia. At that point, I'm saying, we don't know, but my client believed it could be true and, therefore, he chose not to have sex with her. It is basically the — a reason that he chose not to have sexual relations with her.

And again, I don't think it comes under 412 because that is very clear and would be very clear that this is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, truth of the matter asserted being she has chlamydia. It is being offered for my client's state of mind for a reason that he decided he wasn't going to roll the dice.

. . .

Judge, it's not reputation evidence because I'm not really offering it for that. I'm simply offering it as my client's motivation. It is – it is not being offered for reputation or anything. And Judge, I certainly have no

argument regarding any other failure to satisfy the requirements of Rule 412. (Tr., p.242, L.22 – p.243, L.16.)

³ At trial, Mr. Ozuna testified that E.B., whom he met through an adults-only telephone chat line (Tr., p.586, L.6 – p.588, L.25), had previously told him that she was nineteen years old. (Tr., p.599, Ls.12-16.) Her actual age, then, would not have been a factor that would have discouraged him from having sex with her.

objection to all the cautionary instructions the Court wishes to give that it's not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted. I'm doing it because my client's state of mind, his motivation is exactly what – it's central to the issue, Judge. It's central to the issue.

(Tr., p.246, L.4 – p.248, L.9.) Defense counsel then explained, "If I was offering it for the truth, that the rumor is she has chlamydia, yes, that would be" something that fell under Rule 412. (Tr., p.252, Ls.1-4.)

In ruling that Mr. Ozuna could not testify that he had learned from Andree that E.B. had chlamydia, resulting in him having no desire to have sexual intercourse with E.B., the district court explained,

[I]t would be stated opinion or reputation regarding the fact that the defendant [sic] had a sexually transmitted disease. And the Court has made its ruling under 412. And the Court will stand by its ruling. The evidence will not be placed before the jury. And if it's determined that I am wrong, I will graciously accept the correction by an appellate court. And again, I pointed out this is a tough decision, but I think the rule specifically addresses this issue.

(Tr., p.255, L.12 - p.256, L.2.)

In order for Rule 412 to apply, the proffered evidence must be either "reputation or opinion evidence of the past sexual behavior of an alleged victim" or "evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior." I.R.E. 412(a) and (b). The issue of whether a defendant, who believed that a person has a communicable disease, may testify as to that belief and the effect that it had in causing him not to have sexual intercourse with the person, appears to be one of first impression in Idaho.

As an initial matter, no definition of the term "sexual behavior" appears to have been developed by Idaho appellate courts. *See State v. Brown*, 131 Idaho 61, 67 (Ct. App. 1998) (declining to define the scope of the term "past sexual behavior," choosing instead to decide the case under Rule 403). However, the Oregon Court of

Appeals has interpreted the term "past sexual behavior" from a nearly-identical section of its rape shield law⁴ as follows:

We hold that "past sexual behavior" means a volitional or non-volitional physical act that the victim has performed for the purpose of the sexual stimulation or gratification of either the victim or another person or an act that is sexual intercourse, deviate sexual intercourse or sexual contact, or an attempt to engage in such an act, between the victim and another person.

Wright, 776 P.2d at 1297-98. The Supreme Court of Iowa has adopted the Oregon Court of Appeals' definition when interpreting its own rape shield law. *State v. Baker*, 679 N.W.2d 7, 10 (Iowa 2004) (quoting *Wright*).

While no Idaho appellate court has tackled the issue, appellate courts in several states have held that evidence that an alleged victim *actually has* a sexually transmitted disease is not prohibited under those states' rape shield laws because presenting such testimony does not amount to disclosing specific instances of prior sexual behavior. *See, e.g., State v. Steele*, 510 N.W.2d 661, 667 (S.D. 1994) (holding that, in seeking to offer the fact that the alleged victim had chlamydia at the time of the alleged assault, which defendant did not subsequently contract, "Steele sought not to offer evidence of any specific instance of [the victim's] prior sexual contacts, as prohibited by the rape shield statute"); *Evans v. Com.*, 415 S.E.2d 851, 855 (Va. Ct. App. 1992) ("Evidence that the complaining witness learned that she had contracted a venereal disease is not evidence of general reputation or of specific prior sexual 'conduct' which [the rape shield statute] shields."); *Reece v. State*, 383 S.E.2d 572, 574 (Ga. Ct. App. 1989); *but see Fells v. State*, 207 S.W.3d 498, 502 (Ark. 2005) (holding, in an issue of first impression,

⁴ The relevant portion of the law read, "For purposes of this section, the term 'past sexual behavior' means sexual behavior with respect to which rape, sodomy or sexual abuse or attempted rape, sodomy or sexual abuse is alleged." *State v. Wright*, 776 P.2d 1294, 1297 (Or. Ct. App. 1989).

"that the HIV status of a rape victim is protected under Arkansas' rape-shield statute" but cautioned that "[o]ne should not conclude, as the dissent suggests, that a defendant can never present evidence of a rape victim's HIV status when that evidence is relevant to a defense at trial"); *State v. Cunningham*, 995 P.2d 561, 568-69 (Or. Ct. App. 2000) ("Evidence that a victim has a sexually transmitted disease is as much evidence of past sexual behavior as evidence of intercourse or other sexual contact.").

In *Reece*, the Georgia Court of Appeals reasoned that evidence that the alleged victim had tested positive for a sexually transmitted disease immediately after the alleged sexual assault and that the defendant and his wife did not have such a disease did not fall under the state's rape shield statute, explaining,

Perhaps it might suggest by deduction that if defendant did not have the disease, and did not transmit it to the victim, then someone else might have done so. This is not an improper attempt to explore the victim's past or other sexual experience; and if under some remote consideration it suggests that (in addition to perhaps bathing in water which another infected person had enjoyed) the victim had some sexual activity with someone else, so be it. That is speculation only. Any possible harm caused to the victim by such speculation is far outweighed by the harm done to the defendant in denying him the opportunity to prove he did not have the disease. Such speculation should not stand in the way of allowing defendant to present this vital defense to the prejudicial testimony elicited by the State.

Reece, 383 S.E.2d at 574 (emphasis added). In *Evans*, the Virginia Court of Appeals reasoned, "Although a venereal disease is usually sexually transmitted, evidence that a person has learned that he or she has contracted a venereal disease is not proof of specific sexual conduct." *Evans*, 415 S.E.2d at 855.

Mr. Ozuna urges this Court to accept the reasoning of the courts in *Reece*, *Evans*, and *Steele* that evidence concerning whether an alleged victim has a sexually transmitted disease does not fall under the prohibitions of rape shield laws. As both the *Reece* and *Evans* Courts explained, the fact that a person has a sexually transmitted

disease does not amount to a statement that the person has had sex, let alone constitute evidence of a specific prior instance of sexual conduct. There is no reason to conclude that Idaho's rape shield rule should be read any differently, especially with respect to a claim, not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, that a defendant's reason for not having sexual intercourse with an alleged victim was fear of contracting a sexually transmitted disease he believed she had.

Furthermore, the fact that Mr. Ozuna was not offering the testimony to prove that E.B. actually had chlamydia further undermines the district court's conclusion that this evidence fell under Rule 412. This is reinforced by the Idaho Court of Appeals' recent explanation of the reasons for the adoption of rape shield laws, namely, "Rape shield laws are rules of exclusion of evidence of a victim's sexual behavior, adopted in large part to protect victims and prevent use of evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior for improper and irrelevant purposes." State v. Molen, 148 Idaho 950, 954 n.3 (Ct. App. 2010) (emphasis added).

Because the proffered evidence does not fall within the scope of Rule 412, the district court erred when it excluded the evidence on that basis. As such, this Court should vacate Mr. Ozuna's conviction, and remand this matter for a new trial. *See State v. Meister*, 148 Idaho 236, 240 (2009) (where district court applies wrong standard in excluding defense evidence the remedy is to vacate the conviction and remand for a new trial).

2. Exclusion Of The Proffered Testimony Violated Mr. Ozuna's Constitutional Rights To Present A Defense And To A Fair Trial Under The Sixth And Fourteenth Amendments

Rule 412 does not apply to bar evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior when it "is constitutionally required to be admitted" I.R.E. 412(b)(1). In considering

whether exclusion under Rule 412 violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense, Idaho appellate courts must apply a two-part test. First, because a defendant has no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence, the court must determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant. Second, the court must "ask whether other legitimate interests outweighed" the defendant's interest in presenting the proffered evidence. In considering the issue, an Idaho appellate court "will find a Sixth Amendment violation only if [it] conclude[s] that the trial court abused its discretion." State v. Peite, 122 Idaho 809, 814-15 (Ct. App. 1992) (citing Wood v. Alaska, 957 F.2d 1544 (9th Cir. 1992)). Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." I.R.E. 401.

Mr. Ozuna maintains that the first part of the test, whether the proffered evidence was relevant, is clearly satisfied. Whether Mr. Ozuna had a plausible reason for not wanting to engage in sexual intercourse with E.B. goes to the heart of his defense. Central to his defense was his testimony that he did not have sexual intercourse with E.B., whom he believed to be of age, because he had no desire to do so. What was absent from his testimony in support of his defense was the reason that he rejected her aggressive pursuit of sex with him was that he believed her to be afflicted with chlamydia.

In order to understand how critical the excluded information was to Mr. Ozuna's defense, it is necessary to examine his actual trial testimony. At trial, Mr. Ozuna testified that, while E.B. used the bathroom, Andree told him, "[E.B.]'s checking you out and stuff. She's giggling, she's coming on to you. And don't be messing with her." At

⁵ See note 3, supra.

that point, defense counsel said, "Okay. I want to stop you right there. Okay." This was an attempt to avoid violating the district court's order concerning what Andree told him about E.B. having chlamydia. (Tr., p.601, Ls.9-22.) Andree then left the room briefly, and E.B. flirted with Mr. Ozuna before throwing him on the bed and getting on top of him, at which point Andree, wearing lingerie, walked back in and started yelling at them. (Tr., p.602, Ls.3-25.)

Andree became enraged, and "ran down the alley like a lunatic for a couple of minutes," before returning and asking to use the phone. Mr. Ozuna offered to call a cab for E.B. and Andree because he wanted them to "get the hell out of [t]here." Andree then used the phone to arrange a ride with "some guy in a truck that she met on Live Links." Mr. Ozuna asked her to take E.B. with her, but she refused to do so. (Tr., p.603, L.25 – p.606, L.20.) At that point, Mr. Ozuna went to his futon and "crashed out" wearing just his boxer shorts and a tank top. (Tr., p.607, L.4 – p.608, L.2.)

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