5-16-2013

State v. Ozuna Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40165

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Ozuna Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred When It Denied Ozuna's Motion To Introduce Evidence Of His Victim's Previous Sexual Behavior

A. Introduction

Ozuna asserts that the district court erred when it prevented him from testifying that he “did not have sexual intercourse with E.B. because he had been told that she had chlamydia,” and from presenting evidence that his victim did have chlamydia “at the time of the alleged assault, and that he did not contract chlamydia following the alleged assault.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.4, 16.) Ozuna’s claim fails, however, because the district court correctly determined the proffered evidence was impermissible evidence of a victim’s previous sexual behavior and was not constitutionally required.

B. Standard Of Review

The trial court has broad discretion in the admission of evidence, and its judgment will be reversed only when there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. State v. Perry, 139 Idaho 520, 521, 81 P.3d 1230, 1231 (2003). Questions of relevancy, however, are reviewed de novo. State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 923 P.2d 966 (1996); State v. Raudebaugh, 124 Idaho 758, 764, 864 P.2d 596 (1993).

C. Ozuna Has Failed To Show An Abuse Of Discretion Because The Proposed Evidence Was Not Admissible

Admission of evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior is controlled by Idaho Rule of Evidence 412. That rule provides that "evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior" is not admissible unless the defendant (1) complies with the procedures of the rule and (2) admission of the evidence is "constitutionally required." I.R.E. 412 (b). The procedural prerequisite to admissibility was recently set forth by the Idaho Supreme Court:

The admissibility of I.R.E. 412 evidence is determined solely from the basis of the I.R.E. 412 hearing. See I.R.E. 412 (c)(2)-(3). Under I.R.E. 412, evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior is generally inadmissible. I.R.E. 412 (a)-(b). A defendant seeking to introduce evidence regarding a sex-crime victim's past sexual behavior is required to submit a written offer of proof from which the trial court determines if that evidence falls within the limited exceptions for admissibility. I.R.E. 412 (c)(2). In other words, the trial court determines whether it will even consider the admissibility of the evidence based upon the written offer of proof. If the trial court determines that an I.R.E. 412 hearing is warranted, the evidence's admissibility is determined from the basis of that hearing alone. I.R.E. 412 (c)(3).

State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 216, 245 P.3d 961, 968 (2010). Because the court found that Ozuna did not receive "the evidence confirming that [the victim] had chlamydia" until the weekend before the trial was to begin, it found Ozuna's motion was not untimely nor that Ozuna "failed to comply with that aspect of the rule." (JT Tr., p.242, L.22 – p.243, L.3.) Finding Ozuna's motion was not procedurally barred, the trial court analyzed it pursuant to I.R.E. 412 despite Ozuna's claim that the rule did not apply to this particular set of circumstances.

The Idaho Court of Appeals has articulated the constitutional standard of I.R.E. 412 (b) as a two-prong test of, first, "whether the evidence proffered is

relevant” and second, if so, “whether other legitimate interests outweigh the defendant’s interest in presenting the evidence.” State v. Meister, 148 Idaho 236, 241, 220 P.3d 1055, 1060 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting State v. Self, 139 Idaho 718, 722, 85 P.3d 1117, 1121 (Ct. App. 2003)). Thus, to show error, Ozuna must demonstrate that he presented to the district court an offer of proof that established both that the proposed evidence was relevant and that its relevance was not outweighed by other legitimate interests.

The morning of trial, the district court addressed the issue of “whether or not defense should be able to address the issue of diagnosis or health diagnosis regarding the alleged victim of the case.” (JT Tr., p.229, Ls.8-12.) Ozuna advised the court that the “first thing [he] want[ed] to do” was to ask E.B. “whether or not she had a sexually transmittable disease at the time she allege[d] that she had sexual relations with Mr. Ozuna.” (JT Tr., p.229, Ls.18-21.) Ozuna indicated he then wanted to be able to testify at his trial not only does he “not [now] suffer from a sexually transmitted disease,” he “was not interested in having sexual relations with [E.B.]” because a third party had told Ozuna that E.B. had chlamydia. (JT Tr., p.229, L.22 – p.230, L.5.) Ozuna’s offer of proof for his position was:

when Mr. Ozuna testifies, he would testify, I’ll make an offer of proof, that [A.B.], the other woman present, had told him that [E.B.] had a sexually transmitted disease.

...

On the first case, Judge, the fact that she had a sexually transmitted disease, Mr. Ozuna would further testify that he has since been to a doctor, had, basically, a full physical, and he does not suffer from a sexually transmitted disease. He does not suffer from chlamydia, and never came down with any signs.

(JT Tr., p.229, L.23 – p.230, L.12.)

Contrary to Ozuna's assertion that the evidence was being offered to show his state of mind at the time he was around E.B., thus proving why he did not want to have sex with her (see JT Tr., p.246, L.16 – p.248, L.9), at best it was evidence of a prior sexual act used merely to paint the victim as a person of questionable moral character who had contracted a sexually transmitted disease—the very thing prohibited by Rule 412. The district court pointed out that contrary to Ozuna's assertion, asking his victim if she had a sexually transmitted disease “would certainly be an inquiry about the truth of the allegation.” (JT Tr., p.255, Ls.7-12.) The court found that “giving the jury the impression that the alleged victim was promiscuous, having sex with people” was not outweighed by the probative value of such evidence. (JT Tr., p.248, Ls.10-15.) The district court properly held that Ozuna had failed to demonstrate that he was entitled to admission of the evidence under the constitutional right exception to the rule. (JT Tr., p.245, Ls.2-6.)

Ozuna asserted below and asserts on appeal that the evidence he was seeking to introduce at trial did not fall under I.R.E. 412 because he was not introducing it for the truth of the matter asserted. (Appellant's brief, pp.5-10.) His own position at the hearing on his oral motion belies this point. He advised the court that the first thing he wanted to be able to do was ask the victim if she in fact had chlamydia at the time Ozuna had sexual contact with her. (See, JT Tr., p.229, Ls.17-21.) Ozuna indicated he would then follow up with his own testimony that he had “basically, a full physical” and never “came down with any

signs” of chlamydia. (JT Tr., p.230, Ls.1-12.) Asking a victim of a sexual offense if she had a sexually transmitted disease contracted prior to her being sexually active with a defendant is by its very nature asking about prior sexual behavior of the victim. The district court agreed, finding “the suggested evidence is evidence of a victim’s past behavior, suggesting that she had past sexual activities.” (JT Tr., p.243, Ls.17-21.)

Ozuna argues that his attempt to testify at trial as to A.B.’s statement to him that E.B. had chlamydia was not covered by I.R.E. 412 because it was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted but to show why he was not interested in having sexual contact with E.B. (Appellant’s brief, pp.5-10.) However, the only evidence of this conversation is the uncorroborated word of Ozuna himself. If the Court were to determine such hearsay evidence was not covered by I.R.E. 412, the trial court correctly determined that the probative value of such evidence did not outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice. (See JT Tr., p.244, L.22 – p.245, L.248, L.15.)

Because the Idaho appellate courts have not directly addressed this issue, Ozuna cites to Reece v. State, 383 S.E.2d 572, 574 (Ga. Ct. App. 1989), for his position that evidence of a victim’s contracting a sexually transmitted disease is not evidence of the kind of prior sexual behavior sought to be excluded by I.R.E. 412. (See Appellant’s brief, pp.7-10.) Reece is a case that involved the state attempting to show that a victim contracted a sexually transmitted disease from the defendant and the defendant objecting to the trial court’s refusal to allow him to counter that with evidence that he did not in fact have a disease to sexually

transmit and was therefore not the one responsible for committing the sexual offense he had been accused of. 383 S.E.2d at 574.

Reece is distinguishable from the present case wherein Ozuna is attempting to introduce evidence that his victim had a sexually transmitted disease which she contracted prior to his meeting her in order to show that since he did not contract a sexually transmitted disease from his victim, he did not have sexual contact with her. However, Ozuna's offer of proof that he had subsequently been tested by a doctor does not establish that he was not infected after the sexual contact occurred nor does it rule out the possibility that Ozuna had sexual contact with E.B. Ozuna has failed to establish the district court erred by analyzing the evidence proffered under I.R.E. 412 and concluding it was inadmissible.

Finally, even if it was error for the district court to exclude evidence that his victim had tested positive for chlamydia prior to his contact with her and Ozuna's own self-reported negative chlamydia status at the time of trial, any error was harmless. In State v. Pena-Rojas, 822 A.2d 921 (R.I. 2003), the Rhode Island Supreme Court found the failure of the trial court to exclude evidence that the defendant was "free of any sexually transmitted diseases" where there was evidence that the victim had sexual contact with another man on the same evening he was alleged to have had sexual contact with her was harmless error based on the other evidence presented at trial:

Most importantly, other evidence implicated defendant as the person who had sexual relations with the victim on the date in question, including the victim's testimony, her identification of the location of the motel where the assault took place, her identification

of defendant from a police-assembled photographic array, and the physical evidence of motel records identifying defendant as the person who rented the motel room. Thus, if it was error for the trial justice to exclude evidence that defendant was free of any sexually transmitted diseases, it was harmless error.

822 A.2d at 924.

In this case, any error in the exclusion of evidence was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence implicating Ozuna as E.B.'s offender. "Where error concerns evidence omitted at trial, the test [for harmless error] is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the lack of excluded evidence might have contributed to the conviction." State v. Harris, 132 Idaho 843, 847, 979 P.2d 1201, 1205 (1999) (quoting State v. Pressnall, 119 Idaho 207, 209, 804 P.2d 936, 938 (Ct. App. 1991)).

Here, E.B. identified Ozuna from a photo-lineup conducted at the beginning of the investigation. (JT Tr., p.312, L.23 – p.315, L.1.) Ozuna ultimately admitted to having been with E.B. on the evening in question and although he initially denied having any sexual contact with E.B., Ozuna testified at trial that he woke up to E.B. "straddling" him while he was wearing only his "boxers and a tank top." (JT Tr., p.608, Ls.1-14.) Most importantly, however, as evidence presented implicating Ozuna as the person who had sexual contact with the 15-year old E.B. were the results of a DNA analysis taken from a swab taken from E.B. after Ozuna had sexual contact with her. The results of that analysis were that it was "137 quadrillion times more likely" that the swab taken from E.B. was "a result of the combination of [E.B.'s] DNA and Mr. Ozuna's DNA than if it had been a combination of [E.B.'s] DNA and an unrelated person

randomly selected from the general population.” (JT Tr., p.547, Ls.16-24.) If it was error to exclude the evidence proffered by Ozuna the morning of trial, any error was harmless.

II.

Ozuna Has Failed To Establish An Abuse Of The Sentencing Court’s Discretion

A. Introduction

Ozuna argues the district court abused its discretion by failing to give sufficient consideration to the mitigating factors presented to it at Ozuna’s sentencing hearing. (Appellant’s brief, pp.24-26.) Ozuna has failed to meet his burden and has thereby failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion in imposing a unified life sentence with the first 20 years fixed upon a jury finding of guilty to lewd conduct with a sentencing enhancement for having a previous conviction for lewd conduct.

B. Standard Of Review

When a defendant alleges an excessive sentence on appeal, the appellate court independently reviews “all of the facts and circumstances of the case” and considers the nature of the offense and the character of the offender. State v. Cope, 142 Idaho 492, 500, 129 P.3d 1241, 1249 (2006). To prevail, the appellant must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence is excessive considering the objectives of criminal punishment. Cope, 142 Idaho at 500, 129 P.3d at 1249. Those objectives are “(1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public generally; (3) the

possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing.” State v. Stover, 140 Idaho 927, 933, 104 P.3d 969, 975 (2005). The fixed portion of the sentence is considered the probable duration of confinement. State v. Sanchez, 115 Idaho 776, 777, 769 P.2d 1148, 1149 (Ct. App. 1989). A sentence that does not exceed the statutory maximum will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Reinke, 103 Idaho 771, 772, 653 P.2d 1183, 1184 (Ct. App. 1982). Where reasonable minds might differ as to the length of sentence, the appellate court will not substitute its view for that of the sentencing court. State v. Brown, 121 Idaho 385, 393, 825 P.2d 482, 490 (1992).

C. Ozuna Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Discretion

Ozuna asserts on appeal “that, given any view of the facts, his life sentence, with twenty years fixed, is excessive.” (Appellant’s brief, p.24.) Specifically, Ozuna contends that his family support and substance abuse were “mitigating factors known to the district court at the time of sentencing, [and] the district court abused its discretion when it imposed a unified life sentence, with twenty years fixed.” (Appellant’s brief, p.26.)

The court considered mitigating factors before sentencing Ozuna, including his family support: “In mitigation Mr. Ozuna in the relationship with his family and circumstances outside of his predatory sexual behavior appears to care about his family, children, has done some positive things in his lifetime.” (6/21/12 Tr., p.46, Ls.17-21.) Ozuna’s “history of substance and alcohol abuse”

was also before the court at sentencing. (PSI, p.11.) The court considered Ozuna's "substance abuse issues" but weighed them against the opportunities had been given and failed "each time" he was on probation or parole. (6/21/12 Tr., p.45, L.11 – p.46, L.2.)

The aggravation considered by the court far outweighed the mitigation presented at sentencing. The court found "the nature of the offense" itself aggravating, especially where Ozuna was "already subject to registration requirements as a sexual predator." (6/21/12 Tr., p.43, Ls.16-22.) The court noted Ozuna continued to deny culpability for his actions and instead attempted to place the blame on his victim at sentencing: "Mr. Ozuna, I'm a little – I'm a lot disappointed that you continually attempt to besmirch the victim in this case by making reference to things that may insult her character." (6/21/12 Tr., p.43, L.23 – p.44, L.1.)

The court found Ozuna was a "predator" based on the similarities in Ozuna's behavior leading to his two lewd conduct convictions, his commission of the latest while on his third opportunity on parole, and the use of alcohol in the abuse of his victims. (6/21/12 Tr., p.44, Ls.14-23.) Those concerns, coupled with Ozuna's dishonesty in the investigation and his repeated failed opportunities at rehabilitation led the court to the conclusion that Ozuna "pose[d] a threat to . . . potential victims of sexual abuse." (6/21/12 Tr., p.46, Ls.5-6.)